#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-17-2018

### IN SUPREME COURT PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP1618-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL A. KEISTER,

Defendant-Respondent.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE IOWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM ANDREW SHARP, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does an individual have a fundamental liberty interest in participating in a treatment court funded by the state and county when he or she has been charged with an offense involving violent conduct, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) (2015–16)<sup>1</sup>?

The circuit court answered yes.

The court of appeals did not decide this issue, concluding that it became moot as to the defendant-respondent, Michael A. Keister.

This Court should answer no.

2. Must Wis. Stat. § 165.95, the statute defining the Wisconsin Department of Justice's grant funding program, define procedures for treatment courts to follow for the statute to survive a procedural due process challenge?

The circuit court implicitly answered yes.

The court of appeals did not decide this issue, concluding that it became moot as to Keister.

This Court should answer no.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As with most cases accepted for review by this Court, oral argument and publication are appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the 2015–16 version of the Wisconsin Statues unless otherwise noted.

#### INTRODUCTION

Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95 applies to the administration of the Department of Justice's Alternatives to Incarceration grant program. At the broadest level, it defines the process by which counties can apply for funding of a treatment court program or a suspended or deferred prosecution program. Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95 does not dictate the general scope and administration of the counties' programs; counties have broad discretion in how they choose to administer these programs. That said, to be eligible for grant funding, section 165.95 requires counties to exclude "violent offenders" from their programs.

Iowa County operates one such treatment court program, from which Keister was the subject of an expulsion motion after he was charged with crimes involving violence. An Iowa County court declared that section 165.95's categorical exclusion from participation of offenders who have been charged with a crime involving violence—but who have not yet been convicted—violated substantive due process as applied to Keister. It also concluded that Wis. Stat. § 165.95's silence on procedural requirements counties must implement for expulsion violated procedural due process.

The circuit court's due process analysis was flawed. There is no liberty interest in participation in treatment court; to the extent that there is, the statute survives rational-basis scrutiny. Moreover, a statute need not set forth procedural due process requirements to pass constitutional muster. And Iowa County's program provides all the procedural process a treatment court participant is due. This Court should reverse the circuit court's declaratory judgment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An overview of the grant program created by Wis. Stat. § 165.95 and the Iowa County Treatment Court Program.

The Wisconsin Department of Justice administers a grant program, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 165.95,² that requires it to "make grants to counties to enable them to establish and operate programs, including suspended and deferred prosecution programs and programs based on principles of restorative justice, that provide alternatives to prosecution and incarceration for criminal offenders who abuse alcohol or other drugs." Wis. Stat. § 165.95(2). Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95 defines the eligibility requirements for such grants, certain requirements of the county if a grant is awarded, reporting requirements of the Department of Justice, and other miscellaneous provisions.

At issue here is Wis. Stat. § 165.95(3)(c), which conditions a county's grant eligibility on its making violent offenders ineligible to participate in its alternatives to prosecution program: "[a] county shall be eligible for a grant" if, among other things, the county's alternative to incarceration program "establishes eligibility criteria for a person's participation. The criteria shall specify that a violent offender is not eligible to participate in the program." Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) defines "violent offender," in part, as "[a] person . . . charged with or convicted of an offense in a pending case and, during the course of the offense, the person carried, possessed, or used a dangerous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95 also applies to suspended and deferred prosecution programs. *See* Wis. Stat. § 165.95(2). Thus, the Court's decision in this case will have an impact beyond treatment courts.

weapon, the person used force against another person, or a person died or suffered serious bodily harm."

The Iowa County Treatment Court receives grant funding for its program from the Department of Justice. Iowa County has a handbook that defines its program. See Iowa County Treatment Court, Drug Court Program, Participant Handbook (hereinafter "Handbook"). (Pet-App. 104–28.) The mission of the program is to "enhance public safety, preserve families, and improve the quality of life for all residents." Id. at 4. (Pet-App. 107.) The program seeks to accomplish that mission "[b]y providing cost effective, individualized and comprehensive treatment and rehabilitative services, delivered in a dignified environment . . . to break the cycle of addiction." Id. at 4. (Pet-App. 107.)

The Iowa County treatment court team decides in its discretion whether to recommend to admit an individual into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Handbook is not in the record, but is akin, in many respects, to local court rules. The circuit court acknowledged this, explaining that the Handbook defined Iowa County's program. (R. 44:8–9.) Thus, the Handbook is not a factual or historical element that must be within the record to be considered by this Court. Moreover, even if the Handbook is considered to contain "facts," this Court must take judicial notice of those facts. See Sisson v. Hansen Storage Co., 2008 WI App 111, ¶ 11, 313 Wis. 2d 411, 756 N.W.2d 667 (citing Wis. Stat. § 902.01) ("[A] court must take judicial notice when, as material here: (1) the fact for which judicial notice is requested is 'capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned; and (2) a party asks the court to take judicial notice and gives the court 'the necessary information.""). The Handbook and its contents are capable of accurate and ready determination and that accuracy cannot reasonably questioned, and the State has provided the Court with a copy of the Handbook in the appendix to this brief.

the program. Handbook at 9. (Pet-App. 112.) The treatment court team considers, among other things, whether the potential candidate is a current resident of Iowa County and convicted of a crime related to substance abuse, convicted of a crime related to financing substance abuse, charged with distribution of a controlled substance, or facing probation or extended supervision sanctions or revocation and abusing substances. *Id.* at 6, 9. (Pet-App. 109, 112.) Admission into the program typically coincides with sentencing, meaning that the participant is either in a post-adjudication or alternative to revocation status. *Id.* (Pet-App. 109, 112.)

Once admitted, a participant can be expelled from the program due to subsequent conduct, such as an arrest for a violent crime. Handbook at 18–19. (Pet-App. 121–22.) Any member of the treatment court team can initiate the expulsion process by filing a motion. Handbook at 19. (Pet-App. 122.) If the motion is supported, the treatment court team informs the participant of the motion and schedules an expulsion conference. *Id.* (Pet-App. 122.) The participant has the right to counsel at the conference, and both the participant and counsel may advocate to the treatment court team why the person should not be expelled. *Id.* (Pet-App. 122.) Following the conference, the team makes a recommendation to the court. Id. (Pet-App. 122.) If the team recommends expulsion, a hearing is set. *Id.* (Pet-App. 122.) The hearing takes place on the record and in open court, and culminates in the treatment court's discretionary expulsion decision. *Id.* at 19–20. (Pet-App. 122–23.)

Keister's participation in the Iowa County Treatment Court and his request for a declaratory judgment.

Keister was a participant in the Iowa County Treatment Court, but not as a post-adjudication or an alternative to revocation participant. As explained above, normally a treatment court participant is accepted into the program before sentencing based upon a recommendation by the treatment court team. In this case, however, Keister submitted a voluntary application to the treatment court after he overdosed on heroin in early November 2015, and before charges were filed. (R. 37:1; 44:2, Pet-App. 130; 63:2; 65:2.) He based his eligibility for the program on a 2014 conviction in Sauk County for possession of narcotic drugs and burglary, for which he was on extended supervision. (R. 37:1; 44:1, Pet-App. 129.)<sup>4</sup>

In December 2015, Keister was charged in Iowa County with possession of narcotic drugs and possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 3.) Those charges stemmed from his November 2015 heroin overdose. (R. 3.) The court scheduled a plea hearing for July 2016, but it was delayed several times, ultimately until January 2017. (R. 63; 64; 68.)

In the meantime, in August 2016, Keister picked up new criminal charges in Sauk County. (R. 44:2, Pet-App. 130.) Those charges included substantial battery, strangulation and suffocation, and felony bail jumping. (R. 44:2, Pet-App. 130.)

In September 2016, the Iowa County Treatment Court team, by Assistant District Attorney Matt Allen, moved to expel Keister from treatment court based on the new Sauk County charges. (R. 37:1; 44:2, Pet-App. 130; 92:1.) Allen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While Keister's acceptance into the program before he faced sentencing is unique, acceptance into the program is left to the discretion of the treatment court team and judge. Thus the State is not arguing that Keister should not have been admitted.

filed that motion after an expulsion conference.<sup>5</sup> The motion specified that the treatment team was relying on Wis. Stat. § 165.95(3)(c) and the rules of the program that establish that a "violent offender" is not eligible to participate in the program. Due to the new Sauk County charges, in the team's view, Keister met that definition; thus, the treatment team asked for an expulsion hearing.<sup>6</sup> (R. 37:1; 92:1.)

Keister, through counsel, advised that he would challenge the motion to expel on constitutional grounds. As a result, the expulsion hearing was put on hold. (R. 28; 37:1.)

In December 2016, Keister was sent back to prison, presumably due to a revocation of his extended supervision in the 2014 Sauk County case. (R. 65:2.)

During all of that, the December 2015 Iowa County drug possession charges remanded pending. In early January 2017, with the expulsion motion still pending, Keister entered into a conditional plea agreement in that case. (R. 37:1; 68:2.) Keister pled no contest to the charge of possession of narcotic drugs. (R. 68:3–4.) In exchange, the State agreed to dismiss a charge of possession of drug paraphernalia. (R. 68:2.) Moreover, the State agreed to make the following conditional sentencing recommendations: If Keister was allowed to continue with and complete the Iowa

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The expulsion conference is not in the appellate record. The conference was held off the record, and treatment court records are confidential and separate from the criminal case file. There is no criminal case file that corresponds to Keister's involvement in this treatment program. *See* Handbook at 10. (Pet-App. 113.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Both the treatment court judge and ADA Allen expressed concern that the program would lose funding if Keister was not expelled. (R. 69:3–4.)

County Treatment Court program, the State would recommend two years of probation. (R. 68:8–9.) If he did not complete the program, the State would recommend four months in county jail. (R. 68:8–9.) Because the plea agreement was conditioned on future events, the sentencing date was set off. (R. 68:13.)

One month later, Keister filed his motion to dismiss the State's motion to expel him from treatment court and asked for a declaration that Wis. Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c) are facially unconstitutional and unconstitutional as applied. (R. 28; 29.) He also asked for an order enjoining any further enforcement of that statute "against the defendant or any other participant in drug treatment courts in Wisconsin." (R. 28:1.) Keister argued that he had a substantive due process right not to be expelled from the program as a "violent offender" based solely upon a criminal charge (as opposed to a conviction). (R. 29:3–6.) He used his plea agreement in the Iowa County case to assert that expulsion from treatment court would result in a deprivation of liberty, i.e., it would result in jail time. (R. 29:4-5.) Keister also argued that no amount of procedural due process afforded in the expulsion process could justify a violation of that right. (R. 29:3-6.)

The circuit court's declaration that the operation of Wis. Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c) is unconstitutional as applied.

The circuit court ultimately entered a declaratory judgment holding that Wis. Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c) were unconstitutional as applied to Keister and others similarly situated. (R. 44, Pet-App. 129–46.) The court concluded that the Legislature, by enacting Wis. Stat. § 165.95, created a liberty interest in participating in treatment courts. (R. 44:5, Pet-App. 133.) Relying on *Wolff v. McDonnell*, 418 U.S. 539 (1974), the court concluded that

"[w]hile there is no constitutional right to be admitted into a drug treatment court, the State having created that opportunity, it falls within the Fourteenth Amendment's guarantee of 'liberty." (R. 44:6, Pet-App. 134.)

The circuit did not find the court statute unconstitutional on its face because the court could not "say that all persons who are prevented from entering treatment court due to its provisions will be incarcerated and thus have a liberty interest at stake." (R. 44:10, Pet-App. 138.) The circuit court declined Keister's request for a statewide injunction, having "confidence in [the] integrity" of other treatment courts to respect the court's conclusion that the statute is unconstitutional as applied. (R. 44:17, Pet-App. 145.)

Because the court found that Wis. Stat. § 165.95 implicated a fundamental liberty interest, it applied strict scrutiny. (R. 44:8, Pet-App. 136.) The court rejected the State's proffered four interests in expelling "violent offenders" from a treatment court, namely: (1) it protects the safety of the individuals who serve the court in treatment and testing roles by not exposing them to violent offenders; (2) it prevents the expansion of costs and time to address the needs of violent offenders, which may be different from those of nonviolent offenders; (3) it avoids rejecting nonviolent offenders due to lost resources used by violent offenders; and (4) it mitigates against wasting resources on a lengthy treatment program that a violent offender will be unlikely to complete before he is convicted of new charges. (R. 44:8–10, Pet-App. 136–38.) The circuit court concluded that "[a]ll of this is actually irrelevant because it begs that basic question of whether these 'violent offenders' are in fact violent offenders. The law at issue here concerns the exclusion of persons merely charged with a violent offense." (R. 44:9, Pet-App. 137.)

The court then addressed procedural due process and concluded Wis. Stat. § that 165.95—providing parameters of the Department of Justice's grant program for alternatives to incarceration—afforded no due process protections to an individual participating in a treatment court. (R. 44:11, Pet-App. 139.) The court found that a participant could be expelled on the ground that the State filed charges, which in the court's view, provides de minimis due process and is insufficient to protect against the apparent substantial risk of an erroneous deprivation of liberty. (R. 44:12, Pet-App. 140.) The court did not consider the actual rules of the program, which require notice and a hearing before expulsion. See Handbook at 19–20. (Pet-App. 122-23.)

Based on its review of Wis. Stat. § 165.95, the circuit court concluded that Keister was placed in the category of "violent offender" with no opportunity to disprove the designation, and that was unconstitutional as applied to him. (R. 44:16, Pet-App. 144.) Again, the circuit court's declaration purported to extend to Keister and others similarly situated. (R. 44:16, Pet-App. 144.)

### The State's appeal and subsequent actions in the circuit court.

The State filed a notice of appeal on August 17, 2017. (R. 45.) A Sauk County court dismissed the substantial battery, strangulation and suffocation, and felony bail jumping charges on the prosecutor's motion on October 17, 2017. (Pet-App. 153.) Once those charges were dismissed, Keister no longer met the definition of a violent offender—he was no longer facing charges in a pending case involving violent conduct.

On April 4, 2018, the court of appeals ordered the parties to address whether the appeal is most and the

practical effect of dismissing the case as moot. (Pet-App. 154.) The State admitted that the issues presented were likely moot because their resolution would no longer have an effect on the underlying controversy, i.e., Keister's expulsion. (Pet-App. 155–58.) The State, however, requested that the court of appeals decide the issues raised because three exceptions to the rule of dismissal for mootness applied. (Pet-App. 155–58.)

On April 26, 2018, the court of appeals dismissed the appeal, solely on mootness grounds. (Pet-App. 159.)

The State petitioned this Court to accept review to address the merits of the issues presented. While the petition for review was pending, the circuit court held a sentencing hearing in Keister's pending Iowa County case, 2015CF193. (Pet-App. 102.) The court withheld sentence and placed Keister on probation. (Pet-App. 101.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To start, Keiser mounts a due-process challenge to a funding statute that does not purport to create individual rights. Wisconsin Stat. § 165.95 governs the DOJ's grant program to help fund county-created treatment courts. It does not create treatment courts or address or confer individual rights to treatment court participants. Thus, the statute does not implicate due process protections, substantive or otherwise.

Even if the statute was subject to the type of constitutional challenge that Keister raises, the statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It appears that the sentencing hearing also included the resolution of charges in Iowa County case numbers 2017CF159 and 2018CF5. (Pet-App. 102.)

survives that challenge. "A statute enjoys a presumption of constitutionality." State v. Heidke, 2016 WI App 55, ¶ 5, 370 Wis. 2d 771, 883 N.W.2d 162 (citation omitted). "To overcome that presumption, a party challenging a statute's constitutionality bears a heavy burden . . . [to] 'prove that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (quoting State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 11, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328). Keister did not meet that burden because there is a rational basis for excluding individuals charged with violent conduct from county drug court programming, and the statute itself is not required to define procedural due process protections.

The circuit court incorrectly declared that the operation of Wis. Stat. § 165.95(1)(a) and Wis. Stat. § 165.95(3)(c) was unconstitutional. Its reasoning was faulty for two reasons.

First, the circuit court concluded that the participation in a treatment court involved a fundamental liberty interest entitled to substantive due process protections. But only the Constitution creates fundamental liberty interests entitled to substantive due process protection. Alternatives to incarceration, like drug treatment courts, were not constitutionally created. There is no fundamental liberty interest at stake here. Because of that, the statute is subject to only rational basis review. Under that standard, there is a rational basis to the extent that the statute conditions funding on a county's excluding individuals who have been charged with, but not yet convicted of, violent crimes from treatment courts.

Second, the circuit court concluded that Wis. Stat. § 165.95 had to define procedural due process protections in order to survive a constitutional challenge. But there is no authority requiring any statutes—let alone a funding statute—to set forth specific due process protections in order

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