## **RECEIVED**

01-23-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2017AP001618-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL A. KEISTER,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from a Declaratory Judgment That Wis. Stat. § 165.95 is Unconstitutional, Entered in Iowa County, the Honorable Andrew Sharp, Presiding.

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

CATHERINE R. MALCHOW Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1092705

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1638 malchowc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

What due process protections are required before a participant may be expelled from a drug treatment court program?

At issue in this case are the "violent offender" provisions of Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Program statute, Wis. Stat. §§ 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c). Specifically, Mr. Keister challenged the statute's mandate that he constitutes a "violent offender" because he had been "charged with...a[] [violent] offense in a pending case" and thus, according to the statute, "is not eligible to participate" in drug treatment court. Wis. Stat. §§ 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c).

The circuit court found that Mr. Keister could not be expelled from the Iowa County Drug Treatment Court based solely on the filing of a complaint that alleged he committed a violent crime—it held that such a deprivation of his liberty interest denied his rights to substantive and procedural due process.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Keister welcomes oral argument if it would be helpful to the court. Publication is appropriate because no Wisconsin case has addressed what due process protections are required before a participant may be terminated from drug treatment court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

As Respondent, Mr. Keister chooses to supplement the factual background provided, as necessary, within his argument.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court Must Declare What Due Process Protections a Participant in Drug Court is Entitled to Prior to Expulsion.

#### A. Overview of Argument.

All parties agree that Mr. Keister is enrolled in Iowa County Drug Treatment Court related to his extended supervision in Sauk County Case Nos. 13-CF-64 and 14-CF-95. (37:4; 28:2). All parties agree that his ability to continue with treatment court in this case, Iowa County Case No. 15-CF-193, is contingent on whether he is expelled from Drug Treatment Court in Sauk County Case Nos. 13-CF-64 and 14-CF-95. (37:1; 68:8-9). In this case, Mr. Keister pled pursuant to a plea agreement that provides a joint sentencing recommendation for drug treatment court, instead of four months jail, if he is not expelled from drug treatment court in his Sauk County cases. (68:8-9).

While this case, Iowa County Case No. 15-CF-193, was pending, Mr. Keister was charged with violent offenses in Sauk County Case No. 16-CF-302. (37:1; 44:2). These new charges led to an expulsion motion by the state. The state, relying on Wis. Stat. § 165.95, argued expulsion was automatic based on the charging of the violent offense in Sauk County Case No. 16-CF-302. (37:1).

Mr. Keister brought a declaratory judgment action, seeking to dismiss the expulsion motion and arguing that expulsion based solely on a charge violates substantive and procedural due process. (28; 29).

The state, relying on its interpretation of Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Program ("TAD") statute, argued that proof of the violent charge alone is enough to trigger expulsion: "As a matter of procedure, the only proof necessary to support expulsion on the basis of Mr. Keister's new charges should be presentation of the record to date in Sauk County Case No. 16-CF-302." (37:4).

The circuit court granted Mr. Keister's motion to dismiss the expulsion motion, and declared Wis. Stat. §§ 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c) unconstitutional. (44:1-18; App. 101-118). The purpose of declaratory judgment is to allow courts to anticipate and resolve controversies of a justiciable nature prior to the time that a wrong has been threatened or committed. *Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove*, 2008 WI 51, ¶28, 309 Wis. 2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211. Here, the circuit court found that Mr. Keister could not be expelled from Iowa County Drug Treatment Court based on the filing of a complaint that alleged he committed a violent crime—it held that such a deprivation of his liberty interest denied his rights to substantive and procedural due process. (44:1-18; App. 101-118).

On August 17, 2017, the state appealed the circuit court's ruling. (45).

On October 17, 2017, the charges in Sauk County Case No. 16-CF-302—the charges that formed the basis for the state's expulsion motion—were dismissed on the

prosecutor's motion.<sup>1</sup> As such, by law, those charges were not proven, have no legal effect, and Mr. Keister is presumed innocent.

At the appellate level, the state's argument has changed. It no longer argues that evidence of filing of the criminal complaint is enough to support expulsion from drug treatment court. (App. Br. 18). The state also includes the Iowa County Drug Treatment Court handbook as part of its Appendix. (App. 119-143). This handbook was not part of the circuit court record, was not argued during any hearing or in any motion, and was not considered by the circuit court in its decision. It is unclear what legal authority this handbook has. It purports to be "a road map" to Iowa County's Drug Treatment Court. (App. 122).

Nevertheless, the state argues that this handbook provides adequate procedural due process. It highlights that before expulsion occurs, a participant is afforded an expulsion conference by the treatment team, notice to the participant, and a hearing in front of the treatment court judge. (App. Br. 18; App. 137-38). The state contends that "That hearing is not just a formality." (App. Br. 18). Contrary to the position taken by the state at the circuit court, the state now concedes that "Expulsion does not flow directly from the filing of the criminal complaint." (*Id.* at 19).

The state has proposed a reading of the statute that attempts to save its constitutionality. While Mr. Keister believes the Iowa County handbook does not address all the due process protections necessary, he agrees with the state that there is a way to read the statute to preserve its constitutionality. *Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Wisconsin* 

Court record entries are available for Sauk County Case No. 16-CF-302 via Wisconsin Circuit Court Access.

**Dep't of Revenue**, 222 Wis. 2d 650, 667, 586 N.W.2d 872 (1998). (When a reasonable interpretation exists that would render the legislation constitutional, a court should avoid interpreting a statute in such a way that would render it unconstitutional.). As will be addressed below, the circuit court's findings that the statute violated due process guarantees is understandable, considering the state's interpretation of the TAD statute at the circuit court level.

Since the TAD statute is silent regarding what due process protections a drug treatment court participant is due before expulsion can occur, this court must declare what due process protections are to be provided prior to a participant's expulsion. By doing so, this court will engraft the minimum due process protections necessary before a person can be expelled from a drug treatment court funded by TAD, such as the Iowa County Drug Treatment Court in this case.

Further, since all TAD funded drug courts develop their own programs and procedures, a ruling by this court would help ensure that all counties are operating their drug treatment courts in accordance with the minimum due process guarantees of the constitution.

For the reasons argued below, this court:

- must interpret Wis. Stat. § 165.95 because it is the only relevant statutory language that creates the right to, and funding for, an alternative to incarceration program, like Iowa County's Drug Treatment Court;
- should interpret "charged with...a[] [violent] offense in a pending case" in Wis. Stat.
   § 165.95(1)(a) in a way to avoid unconstitutionality; and

 should hold that a person in drug treatment court has a substantive and procedural due process right to remain in the program and cannot be expelled without a procedure akin to the procedure used to revoke probation, parole, or extended supervision.

Mr. Keister asks this court to address the due process protections of a person already in drug treatment court, rather than eligibility for entry into drug treatment court. This case does not squarely present the issue of entry, as all parties agree that Mr. Keister is already in Iowa County's Drug Treatment Court. (37:4; 28:2).

B. Summary of Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Program ("TAD") established by Wis. Stat. § 165.95.

In Wisconsin, the primary funding for drug treatment courts comes from the Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Program ("TAD"), established by Wis. Stat. § 165.95 and administered by the Wisconsin Department of Justice.<sup>2</sup> The TAD program was started in 2005 to help counties implement problem-solving courts—with the goal to provide treatment and diversion programs for non-violent, adult offenders whose substance abuse problems were a contributing factor in their criminal activity.<sup>3</sup>

As of 2017, TAD programs are now operating in 46 counties and two tribes.<sup>4</sup> Drug Treatment Courts ("DTC") are the most common type of problem-solving courts in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Criminal Justice Coordinating Council ("CJCC"), "Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Program (TAD)," *available at* https://cjcc.doj.wi.gov/initiative/tad-0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See **Id**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See **Id**.

Wisconsin, and in 2014, accounted for about half of the total number of problem-solving courts in the state.<sup>5</sup>

The only statutory requirements for the operation of problem-solving courts are codified in Wis. Stat. § 165.95, the statute that creates the TAD program by creating funding for such courts. Wis. Stat. § 165.95. This statute defines the minimum eligibility requirements for a participant, county requirements if a grant is awarded, reporting requirements, and other miscellaneous provisions. *See, generally* Wis. Stat. § 165.95.

At issue in this case are the "violent offender" provisions of TAD, Wis. Stat. §§ 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c). Specifically, Mr. Keister has challenged the statute's mandate that he constitutes a "violent offender" because he has been "charged with...a[] [violent] offense in a pending case" and thus, according to the statute, "is not eligible to participate" in DTC. Wis. Stat. §§ 165.95(1)(a) and (3)(c).

While the TAD statute provides the minimum requirements of who is eligible to participate in these county funded problem-solving courts—by specifying that a violent offender may not participate and defines what a violent offender is—that is the extent of guidance that TAD provides on how problem-solving courts operate. Rather, each county that receives a grant is responsible for creating the policies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See "Problem-Solving Courts, Alternatives, and Diversions," Staff Brief, June 18, 2014, p. 15, available at https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/misc/lc/study/2014/1190/010\_june\_25\_2 014\_meeting\_10\_00\_a\_m\_411\_south/sb\_2014\_01.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See "Wisconsin Statutory Requirements for Operation of Treatment Alternatives and Diversion Programs," available at https://cjcc.doj.wi.gov/sites/default/files/initiative/Wisconsin%20Statutor y%20Requirements%20for%20the%20Operation%20of%20Treatment%20Alternatives%20and%20Diversion.pdf.

and protocols to be followed and for handling the day-to-day operations of the problem-solving courts.<sup>7</sup> For example, the Iowa County handbook outlines Iowa County's DTC program operation that details the intake process, program phases, graduation, and sanction and expulsion process. (*See* App. 119-143).

The TAD program takes pride in their program flexibility, which they contend allows for "local criminal justice professionals to design a structured approach to meet the unique criminal justice needs of the community."8

However, because of this flexibility, it appears that no two DTC programs are the same. As such, the standards for eligibility, program phase goals, and the sanction and expulsion process, are in each county's discretion.<sup>9</sup>

As a preliminary matter, the state argues that because Wis. Stat. § 165.95 is a funding statute, "It does not create a treatment court, nor a right to participate in one." (App. Br. 13). TAD grants the county the authority to provide an alternative to incarceration program, such as DTC, and provides the mechanism for funding such a program. Without the funding, or the statutory right to create such a program, the DTC program would not exist nor would the participant's associated liberty interest, which will be addressed below. As such, the state's purported distinction that the TAD statute is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Wisconsin Department of Justice, "TAD Information," available at https://www.doj.state.wi.us/dci/tad-information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See **Id**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See *Id.*( "While the overarching principles of TAD apply in every project, there is variation among projects on program model used, length and intensity of treatment and monitoring, and program target population.")

merely a funding statute, and therefore cannot create a right to such a program, is a distinction without a difference.

Further, in the circuit court, the state relied on the TAD's statute's definition of "violent offender" to try to expel Mr. Keister from the program. There is no other statute dealing with what DTCs look like or how they function. By virtue of Wis. Stat. § 165.95's requirements, the statute functionally governs—without much detail—DTCs funded by DOJ grants.

If DTCs implicate due process—and for reasons given below, they do—then Wis. Stat. § 165.95's requirements must comport with due process requirements or they are invalid.

#### C. Legal standards related to due process.

The United States Constitution guarantees that "no State shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. Wisconsin's own due process clause is significantly similar. Wis. Const. Art. I, § 8. In both, the "touchstone of due process is protection of the individual against arbitrary action of government." *Co. of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833, 845 (1998) *citing Wolf v. McDonnell*, 418 U.S. 539, 558 (1974).

The Due Process Clause protects more than an individual's right to fair process; it has a "substantive sphere as well, barring certain government actions regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them." *Lewis*, 523 U.S. at 840 (internal quotation marks omitted). "Substantive due process forbids a government from exercising power without any reasonable justification in the service of a legitimate governmental objective." *State v.* 

**Quintana**, 2008 WI 33, ¶80, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447.

Freedom from physical restraint is a fundamental right that "has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary governmental action." *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992).

Procedural due process addresses the fairness of the manner in which a governmental action is implemented. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶17, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. "[D]ue process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands." *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972); *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976).

This court employs a two-part test to determine whether a violation of procedural due process has taken place. *Aicher ex rel. LaBarge v. Wis. Patients Comp. Fund*, 2000 WI 98, ¶80, 237 Wis. 2d 99, 613 N.W.2d 849. "First, we examine whether the person has established that a constitutionally protected property or liberty interest is at issue. Second, we consider whether the procedures attendant with the deprivation of the interest were sufficient." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶15. In an "as applied" challenge to the constitutionality of a statute, the party challenging the statute must prove that his or her constitutional rights were actually violated. "If a challenger successfully shows that such a violation occurred, the operation of the law is void as to the party asserting the claim." *Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶13.

D. A participant in drug treatment court has a constitutionally protected liberty interest.

The liberty interest involved in Drug Treatment Court—remaining in the program—is similar to the liberty interest involved in probation, parole, and extended supervision.

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